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Editorial:
HAS ANYTHING CHANGED

Notwithstanding the claims made by federal and state governments, supported by the Indian media that things have improved in the state of Jammu and Kashmir, every year people are told that militancy has reduced and the remnants shall be neutralized soon, record number of tourists visited this year, people are fed up of militancy and striving for peace, but for   Human Rights Monitory groups on the ground nothing has improved. Civil society groups from India who used to document human rights violation  (Committee for Initiatives Kashmir, PUCL, CFD etc) have virtually written off Kashmir. The Indian Civil Groups are now fully engaged in “ngoisation”, the miseries of Kashmiri have become the high profitable business. Most of them are promoting agenda of Indian Government. The optimism of those people who claim that things are improving considerably seemed to be based on the   logic they present is almost  ………if early army used to wipe off whole a family now they are only wiping out half of it.  

After the Confidence Building Measures (CBM’s) taken by two governments which any peace loving people will welcome like starting of Srinagar-Muzaffarabad bus service, Track two initiatives between the civil society actors of two countries and between the two divided parts of Jammu and Kashmir the perception has changed. International concern over the human rights violation in Kashmir has almost stopped there by bailing out the GOI as a result there is a total indifference by the International organizations towards the unabated human rights violation in the State of Jammu and Kashmir.

Has anything changed? The graph of killings this year as per the documentation made by the PCHR: 435 Civilian including 43 children, 997 militants, 216 Indian armed forces, 18 cases of enforced disappearances and 39 custodial killings and fake encounter.  In this year 20 magisterial / judiciary enquiries were ordered by the government after public outcry’ only three enquires were completed in which no one was punished. 

 
The High Court Bar Association after visiting the jails and talking to detenues published three reports highlighting the plight of the detenues. One of the important events of 2005 was the foundation stone re-laid in the memory of disappeared person on 21 April 2005 by Association of Parents of Disappeared Persons (APDP). On 30 April an abortive attempt on the life of the Editor and patron of APDP was made which resulted into the calling off of the APDP monthly sit-in campaign held in a local park in Srinagar due to the security reasons. 

 
 Some of the incidents invited wide condemnation and which resulted in law and order problems like at Vilgam village in north Kashmir on July 25, in which three students were brutally killed by the army, nevertheless, the army was informed about the marriage in the vicinity and as routine the enquiry was ordered into the incident. Another incident on July 14, at the Dooru, Anantnag in which a girl preferred death than getting dishonored by an army personnel masquerading as militant. This incident  shocked the society.  

 
Killing of the Education Minister Dr. Ghulam Nabi Lone on November 20 triggers controversy. The slain minister’s family blames politicians for conspiring minister’s assassination. Whereas, the government blames militants for it. Presence of institutions like State Human Rights Commission (SHRC) and judiciary meant to protect civil rights didn’t made any difference. The state judiciary after the appointment of new acting Chief Justice initiated unprecedented judiciary activism. The proactive judiciary passed effective orders in different PIL’s regarding environment and earthquake related issues but remained passive about the human rights related matters committed by armed forces. The SHRC chairperson on May 10 publicly stated that recommendations made by them are not complied by the government, thereby, forcing the applicants to move to the high court for Mandamus. The unexpected behavior from District Magistrate (DM), who publicly acknowledged that PSA is misused against the detenues. The PSA has been still misused and even in considerable number of the cases after the quashment of detention orders by the High Court, the detenues are send to the CID / CIK or detained under other FIR’s making the court orders ineffective.

 
The October 8 earthquake which causes unprecedented devastation to both parts of the Jammu and Kashmir, overshadowed the man made sufferings. Earthquake related rights like relief and rehabilitation became the major concern followed by the bungling in relief distribution and politics. While as the natural destruction was responded humanely. The survivor of human rights excesses also needs support and rehabilitation but unfortunately they have been ignored.

 
 The major development of 2005 was the change of government.  After 30 years the congressman was appointed as Chief Minister of the state. Soon the CM took over made statements like “ custodial killings will not be tolerated, during operations the armed forces should ensure that no harm is caused to civilians”. It is nothing-new even 3 years back when his predecessor came into power same statement were made by him.  But nothing has changed on the ground. The fact remains that the army is an independent entity and is not under the control of state administration.  The army has contested the powers of the state to appoint commissions to probe into the omissions and commissions of the army deployed in the state of Jammu and Kashmir. The army has filed a case on this behalf in Supreme Court of India. They have challenged the Haigam Commission, appointed in 2001 and challenged that state has no power to do so.

The statistics related to the human right gives gloomy picture of 2005. Presence of army, further recruitment of the army and the powers given to the army is not showing any silver lining in future. In addition to it the withdrawal of the human right defenders due to different reasons have further encouraged the armed forces to do excesses with impunity and that is backed by the corporate media. They are still projecting them as heroes who are fighting ‘terrorism’ and defending the territories of the country. Unfortunately, despite of CBM’s the ordinary Kashmiri still feels he has to oblige the army whatever the order. 

SON TORTURED, FATHER BOOKED UNDER PSA

A student Aijaz Ahmad Malla son of Mohd Amin Malla r/o Malpora, Awantipora was tortured by the troops and subsequently his father was booked under Public safety Act (PSA) for highlighting and protesting the torture of his son.


The Informative Missive visited the house of Mohd Amin Malla, a government contractor but found only his brother there. Frightened, he (Amin’s brother) showed complete reluctance in revealing what had happen to the family. He not even disclosed his name. He quickly said that nothing has happened to them.    

The Informative Missive insists and asked for the reasons of his reluctance as the incident was widely reported by the press. He then told, “we have been strictly warned by the army and police not to do anything which would harm their reputation”. 

He further said, “If I reveals anything about the incident, the army will again subject not only the family but the whole village to the worst. And we do not want further troubles”. 

The last thing he shared, was his brother Mohammad Amin’s phone number to this correspondent. The Informative Missive tried to get information from the other inhabitants but no one had courage to relate the incident. 


“In the morning of 28th December Aijaz Ahmad left his home for tuition. On his way he was stopped by the troops of 42-RR, and directed to wear out his Pheran (traditional gown wear in winter) and asked for identity card. Aijaz showed them his school identity card, but the army was demanding to show his voter ID card, which he is not having, because of being minor. 

When he was unable to present voter identity card, the forces thrashed him with bamboo sticks and ordered him to do fidgeting. He was made to run over the bund side of their camp for half-an-hour in chilling winter. Thereafter, the forces trampled his fingertips and beaten him up ruthlessly. This treatment continues for about 2 hours”, stated Mohd Amin Malla father of Aijaz, while talking to The Informative Missive on phone a few days later.


The father adds that his son Aijaz shambled to his home while weeping. He was rushed to the hospital for immediate treatment. With the incident the whole village erupted in a rage and started to demonstrate against this inhuman act. The villagers held a dharna (sit in) on Srinagar - Jammu highway and clamoring for the immediate action against the culpable. While holding protest the police and forces of 42-RR came to the spot and started thrashing demonstrators and resorted to tear gas shells to disrupt the protester.


Mohd Amin adds in the police action scores of villagers mostly women were injured. His sister Hafiza was beaten ruthlessly with the boots due to which she suffered wounds in her abdomen. Mohd Amin was himself wounded as he got injuries in his head. The injured persons were moved to Sher-I-Kashmir Institute of Medical Science (SKIMS) Srinagar, meanwhile, they also approached the media organizations to highlight their plight.


Amin further said, “One of the English dailies next day carried out a story along with a photograph depicts our conditions on its front page. 

Annoyed by the news, the police and army came to my residence and told me that SHO of Awantipora police station wants to meet me. Mohd Amin Makroo son of Gh Mohd, Javaid Ahmad Tak son of Gulam Mustafa and Imtiyaz Ahmad Dar son of Bashir Ahmad were also called by the same SHO.  On reaching the police station, the SHO asked why we went to the media and put us behind the bars”.


He further said, “A false case was filed against all of us. We were accused of attacking the police station and misbehaved with the police officials while demonstrating. They booked us under the following sections viz 307, 148 of RPC and some other acts”.


After the detention of Mohd Amin, his family filed a writ petition for bail in the court of law. The bail was granted after six days of his arrest and he was set free. 

“This is not the end of miseries as a concocted case is still pending against me in the court. There is a lot in the store”, Mohd Amin concluded.

BROTHER OF AN EX-MILITANT TORTURED BY STF

Sadat Hussain Mantoo, 27, son of Ghulam Hassan Mantoo resident of Gaurivan Bijbehara Anantnag was arrested on December 9, by the Special Task Force (STF) and was released eight days later in moribund conditions.

According to Sadat still recuperating, the STF had asked him to divulge the whereabouts and present involvements of his brother who had been associated with militancy in the year 1990. His brother  (name not revealed) in 1991 had disassociated himself from militancy after served 1 ½ year detention. During detention, he (Sadat’s brother) was severely tortured resulting his renal damage. It has been 15 years now that he is under constant treatment. How can an ailing and frail person like him be involved in any devious activity, it just means to harass us. 

Mansoor Ahmad Mantoo, elder brother of Sadat Hussain while talking to The Informative Missive said, “On 9th December Sadat left home on his bike for Darsoo, Tral to collect balance payment from one of his customers. When he failed to return by evening, apprehensive we looked for him at every possible place but in vain. We decided to wait till daybreak and next day we went to Darsoo Tral where Sadat had gone for collecting payment. However, none of our customers had seen Sadat in the village. Failing to locate him, we went to police station Bijbehara and filed a missing report. Police assured us that they would try to find him. Nevertheless no action was taken by the police, as police was well aware about his arrest by the joint action of STF and police,”


For four days, STF and police concealed Sadat’s whereabouts. Protesting against it, the shopkeepers association of Bijbehara and villagers came out on the National Highway shouting anti-government slogans. The demonstrators approached many government and police officials who pacified the infuriated crowd by assuring to ascertain Sadat’s whereabouts as early as possible. Two days later, Sadat was found in the police custody. On the eight day, police from SSP’s office informed the family to get Sadat back.

Ghulam Hassan Mantoo father of Sadat said, “When I received my son from police after eight days of custody, he was in a half dead condition. His right arm was tied to his neck, being broken by the severe torture by STF. He was limping. Seeing his condition, we rushed him to the district hospital Anantnag for immediate treatment. The medical report revealed that he had been given electric shocks on the head”.

As Sadat’s health stabilized, he narrated the trail of his arrest to his family. Hassan further said,“ While refueling his bike at petrol pump some persons came out of a white Maruti car parked nearby and told him to hop into the car. On his denial, the STF personnel forcibly took him into the car. He was taken to the Adlatch Sirigufwara army camp, while one of the STF personals ride his bike to the same camp. 

In the camp, the personnel asked Sadat to give details of his brother who is presently admitted in Delhi hospital for the treatment for his prolong illness developed due to severe torture inflicted on him by the forces in 1991. On Sadat’s reply that he is severely ill and hospitalized in Delhi, STF personals started thrashing him ruthlessly”. 

“They hung him upside down for four days. During this period, they slit his arms with blade and then electrocuted those parts. During torture, STF told Sadat that he was the only one who had survived their torture,” Masroor his brother reveals while lifting Sadat’s arm to show the scars, which are yet to be completely heal. 

“Since his release, Sadat often gets unconscious. His kidneys have been badly damaged and he urinates blood. The STF had rolled his back with a heavy instrument, which caused blood clots all over his body. Although it has been weeks now Sadat limps as he has developed multiple fractures in his leg,” Masroor added.

Ghulam Hassan mourned, “ Sadat used to run our whole business. He dealt with stationary goods and has two bookshops at Bijbehara market. He was very much hale and hearty and was healthiest among his brothers. But the inhuman and degrading torture changed his life from better to worse for none of his fault. Now my son who was an athlete is not able even to walk properly. Our life has been tormented”, added father.   

THE FATHER OF FOUR MINORS KILLED IN COLD BLOOD BY 

UNIDENTIFIED GUNMEN

On 10th December unidentified gunmen shot in air to disperse people before killing a butcher Mohd Amin Ganaie (28) son of Ab Aziz Ganaie resident of Gokhama Tangmarg. Those gunmen since long have unleashed rein of terror in the entire area.


Zaina mother of Mohd Amin mourns and narrates to The Informative Missive, “ It was windy, dark and no electricity. Mohd Amin was about to close his shop, meanwhile, some masked gunmen appeared into Chandlora market firing rounds of bullets in the air to disperse people. Horrified, people ran helter skelter for safety. As gunmen reached Amin’s shop, they fired bullets at him through the glass shield of his shop, which hit his chest, and he died on the spot. After shooting him, the gunmen plundered money from his shop and fled away. Half an hour after the incident, police reached the spot and lodged FIR”.

 
As people came to know about the incident, they rushed towards the Chandlora village. However, police had already taken the dead body to the police station Tangmarg. The villagers went to Tangmarg police station where police handed over the dead body to them for last rites. 


Zaina wails, “My son was innocent and was in no way associated to any unscrupulous activity. He was a trained plumber. But when he did not get the job he started a meat shop at Chandlora Tangmarg. Being the only breadwinner he strived hard to meet the end,” added mother Zaina.

 
Cursing her fate, Zaina laments, “I had two sons and I lost both of them. My younger son Mehraj-ud-Din, 18, was associated with militancy and got killed in an encounter with the troops at Rearm village Tanmarg in 2001. And now I lost my second son. My life has shattered into pieces,”


Jawahira sister of Mohd Amin adds, “ My brother left his three minor daughters and an infant son. The eldest is seven years old while the youngest is of six months. Their mother Rayeesa, 23, is a housewife. Whole family is in pathetic condition. There is none to look after them”. 

Amin’s father Abdul Aziz Ganaie supported by relatives and neighbourers taking pity of his conditions.

     “My father has not having any source of income and my mother is an ailing woman. The death of two sons have agonized and despaired them to the extremity. The plight of the orphans is a constant trauma for them. It’s only on some local assistance that they are able to continue their education. My brother’s elder daughter Iqra keeps her father’s photograph with her and often asks, when my father would come back?” added Jawahira. 


Living in extreme poverty, the family dwells in a thatched house and have no farming land or any other reliable source of income. The family has not applied for ex-gratia relief or compensation, because of the social backwardness of the family. Zaina finds it difficult to go for relief as she believes the process is time consuming and cumbersome. “We have no one on whom we can rely for help and guidance” Zaina reiterates. 

4 ELDERLY MEN FROM AWANTIPORA ARRESTED, SHIFTED TO KOT BALWAL

FAMILY YET TO KNOW WHY?

Charsoo Awantipora Dec 1: Rohee Gul was still wearing bridal jewelry. She was married on November 25th
. Day after, her 47-year-old father Ghulam Muhammad Bhat, a teacher in a government school, was picked up by troops. Traditionally Rohee is supposed to visit her home again seven days after wedding but she had to cut short her post-marital stay in her in-laws house and commiserate her mother, Sarah, and six younger siblings. The family doesn’t know where the head of the house is, why was he apprehended. 

Rayees Ahmad son of Gh. Mohd Bhat while talking to The Informative Missive said, “My father Ghulam Mohd Bhat (46) a school teacher was arrested by the army from our house on 26th November at around 7:30 am in the morning. A day before the arrest of my father, we had our sister’s marriage on the very day of the attack by the militants. Half an hour after we waived off our sister at about 6:00 pm in the evening, the encounter broke out. My father was arrested on the charge of feeding militants. He was arrested by the 42 Rashtriya Rifles (RR) camped at Rajpora Awantipora presiding under Major Sharma. When we resisted his arrest the army told us that they are just taking him for the questioning of the yesterday’s attack and claimed that he would be released soon. When my father did not return that evening, we went to the said army camp to ascertain his whereabouts. However, the army denied his presence in the camp and told us that they had handed over him to police on whose directions he was arrested”.

He further added, “We went to the police station Awantipora and lodged an FIR. We told police about his detention with them as stated by RR, which they refused. Failing to locate him at both the places, we approached political groups through sources confirmed his presence in police custody that he is imprisoned in JIC police quarter Khanabal. On this, we went to JIC quarter to meet him. However, they denied his presence”.


Adding to Rayees, Gh. Mohd’s nephew Ab. Rashid Bhat divulged, “ When SSP (Ashiq Bukhari) concealed my uncle’s whereabouts, we met Chief Minister and sought his help for the release of Gh. Mohd. Bhat. 

The Chief Minister called police high ups and sought reason for the arrest of Gh. Mohd. In response, police claimed that Gh. Mohd. Bhat has been associated with militancy. We also met Deputy Commissioner Anantnag, who told us to bring duplicate copy of FIR. Surprisingly, police refused to have lodged any FIR. This was just to avoid the admission of arrest”.


  He further adds that police lodged a baseless FIR against Gh. Muhammad wherein stating his arrest from Sirigufwara, Pahalgam while hiding with militants of Hizbul Mujahidin. “They made false claims that Gh. Muhammad was incessantly harboring militants and the militants who attacked SSP Ashiq Bukhari had taken food in the house of Gh. Mohd Bhat before the attack. On these false grounds he is booked under Public Safety Act (PSA) and sent to the Kot Bhalwal central Jail for detention. Nine days later, we came to know of his whereabouts,” Rashid divulged.


Pleading his innocence, Gh. Mohd’s wife Sara says, “Gh. Mohd’s life was revolved from school to his home. He has never been involved in any militant activity. He has six children and all of them are studying except one daughter Ruhi Jan who got married a day before of her father’s arrest”. 

 
Five days after the arrest, Ghulam Mohd Bhat phoned the in-laws of his newly wed daughter Rohee in Lodu, Pampore. Nayeem Ahmad, brother in law of Rohee says he picked up the phone and (Bhat) told him that they had taken him to Kot Bhalwal jail Jammu after arrest. 
  
“As Ruhi came to know about her father’s detention she busted into shrieks and felt unconscious. All my children had to leave their studies due to poor economic conditions. Gh. Muhammad is the only guardian and breadwinner,” Sara wails.

 
Residing some distance away from Gh Muhammad is the house of Gh. Mohi-ud-din Bhat (37) son of Gh. Mohd who also booked under the same act. A medical assistant in the government Medical dispensary at his native village, Gh. Mohi-ud-din was arrested same day by same personnel of RR. 

 
Giving details to The Informative Missive, Mohi-ud-din’s nephew Sohail Ahmad said, “My uncle was arrested at about 9:00 am on 26th November after police raided his house. My uncle was kept in police station Awantipora for four days and then he was sent to JIC police quarter. In the JIC he was detained for five days till booked under PSA.


He further added that his uncle was arrested for the same charges as that of Gh. Mohd. Bhat. “They alleged that militants carried out the attack on SSP from roof top of Mohi-ud-din’s house which is false. 


Wife of Gh. Mohi-ud-din Bhat, Mehbooba wails while expressing her helplessness pleads that her husband was in no way involved in the militancy. “The concerned SSP has made our lives miserable. Mohi-ud-din is our only support. My two daughters Vixy (13) and Tabasum (11) study in 8th and 7th class respectively while my son Danish (9) is in 4th  standard. From the very day of their father’s arrest they are agonized and are very much worried about their future. Their shocked faces concern me”. 


Another namesake Gh Mohd Bhat (65) Son of Gh. Qadir Bhat, a retired schoolteacher, was also arrested on same charges in the same incident on 26th November at 7:30am.    

“He was having breakfast when police called him out and told him to accompany them to the SSP’s office Islamabad. After eleven days of detention at JIC police quarter Islamabad that we came to know from some political high ups, we got him released. My father is so old that he cannot moves outside home, how come he would be involved in any unscrupulous activity”, said Mohd. Rafiq elder son of Gh Mohd Bhat.


He further added that a teacher who build nation cannot destroy it and that too he is so frail and weak to even walk. But the atrocious role of police did not let him free, even in his old age.

 
A few paces away from Bhat’s house is the modest dwelling of his namesake, Ghulam Muhammad Bhat, a 65-year-old retired schoolteacher. He too was arrested by troops on November 30. His seven sons, wife Khati, and the only daughter don’t know where the aged man is. 

 
“The officer inquired me about my father whom they said was required for some questioning. However, after knowing that he was not at home they left. Later we came to know that troops took him along some distance away from home in a Sumo vehicle,” Maimoona, daughter of Ghulam Muhammad Bhat said. Maimoona too like Rohee had been married seven days before. 
 
 “They allow him to carry Kangri (hot pot used for warmth in winters) so we were complacent and hoped he would be released soon but nine days have passed. We have no information about his whereabouts, ”Khati wife of Ghulam Muhammad said. 

 
Ghulam Muhammad Parray, a 55-year-old frail man with speech and hearing defects, is a peon in a school. Like his namesakes he too was arrested on the same day. His seven children ask for what sin he has been arrested”.

 
“Ghulam Muhammad Parray too was picked up from his home. “They abused me and shoved me aside when I tried to ask why he was being arrested,” Parray’s son, Showkat Ahmad said. Eleven days later he was released.

 
Fifty elderly men of the village claimed that they met Station House Officer (SHO) of Police Station Awantipora and requested him to divulge the whereabouts of the arrested men. But nobody was allowed inside the police station except Wali Mohd. He was allowed in because of being eldest and a venerable person of the village. 
 
 “SP said he was in no way involved in the arrests. He said they were in the custody of SSP Islamabad, Ashiq Bukhari. I told him that the village falls in his jurisdiction, how come Islamabad police would detain them. The SHO humiliated me though I said I am old man,” Wali Muhammad said. 
 
The villagers say that they don’t have any knowledge about the First Information Report (FIR) filed by police. “We don’t even know if they registered it or not. They listened to none of our complaints and refused to register our complaint,” Wali Muhammad further said. 

 
The village elders also met Ashiq Bukhari, the SSP Islamabad, whose motorcade was attacked by militants. The villagers said the arrests, and subsequent harassment of villagers, were made to revenge the attack. 

 “I told Ashiq Bukhari that the three men are innocent but he was furious and said you all are fraud, you are lying. I told him that you should have some respect for my white beard but he was not ready to listen and told me ‘to get out,” Wali Muhammad said. 

Villagers believe the attack on Ashiq Bukhari’s motorcade on Srinagar-Jammu highway near Charsoo village triggered the arrest spree. They fear that the four men have been arrested under Public Safety Act, the draconian law that allows the state to detain any person for two years without a trial.


A group of villagers told that from both sides we are in danger. Sometimes militants force us to give refuge and sometimes troops coerce and persecute us for no fault. We are in great stress about our calamities and there is none who could hear us and will redress our grievances”, villagers said.       

DESPITE QUASHEMENT Of Detention Order, A STUDENT STILL LANGUISHING 

Despite quashing the detention order by the High Court, 21 year old Mohd Yousuf Dar, son of Gh. Hassan Dar, and resident of Awgam Kulgam Islamabad is yet to be released. 

On April 26, 2005, Yousuf was Booked under Public Safety Act (PSA) on charges of having militant links. Before detention order he was kept in Central Jail Jammu for 20 days without any charge. He was arrested on March 26, 2005 by the troops from his house. 

Divulging details to The Informative Missive, Ghulam Hassan Dar father of Yousuf said, “ On 26th March 2005, a joint posse of SOG and army raided our house around 11:30pm and began to search our house for half an hour. Failing to find anything objectionable, they arrested Yousuf. As we resisted and beseeched for his release, this irked them and they thrashed us even after knowing that one of my sons is a police constable,”


Early next morning we went to Kulgam police station to file FIR added Ghulam Hassan, which police however refused to file claiming that Yousuf was associated with militancy and had been arrested in that connection. 

 
“When police did not listen to our woes, we moved to deputy commissioner Anantnag who assured us that Yousuf would be released soon if proven innocent. However, till date no action has been taken by the authorities,” expressed Hassan.


Since the arrest of Yousuf, the family moved from pillar to post for his release but in vain. In the police FIR filed sometime after Yousuf’s arrest vide No. 44/2005, police accused Yousuf of being affiliated with Hizbul Mujahidin militant outfit and for storing arms & ammunitions in his house. They also accused him of being accomplice in the killing of a renegade. 

 
On these fake allegations, Ghulam Hassan added Yousuf was booked under section 7/25 Arms Act.  After his arrest, Yousuf was tortured by SOG and army and imprisoned in Central Jail Jammu for 20 days. On April 14 2005, Yousuf was booked under PSA for 24 months vide number / PSA/ Dated 2005/17 and shifted to Kot Bhalwal Jail by the District Magistrate, Ahmad Khan. During the period, Yousuf’s condition kept on deteriorating due to poor medical treatment,” he added.


Expressing concern, Yousuf’s sister in law Bilquees said, “ Yousuf had never been associated with any outfit or activity. He spent most of his time studying at home. This is all farce. He has been used as a scapegoat to fulfill their vested interests”.


Adding further she said, “when nobody helped us, my husband Gulzar Ahmad Dar a police constable met Inspector General of Police and sought his help for Yousuf’s release. The IGP gave a letter addressed to Senior Superintendent Police (SSP) to look into the matter. MLA Islamabad Aziz Zargar also gave some written statement addressing SSP to probe into the matter. However, even on reception of these recommendatory letters, SSP did not turn up and took no action against this act”. 
.

Yousuf’s mother Hajra still reeling under shock, wails and expresses anguish over the administration. 

 
“After Yousuf was booked under PSA, we filed a petition in the Jammu and Kashmir High Court for the quashing of detention order, which was issued on 29th November 2005 after he was proven innocent. But despite his quash of detention he is yet to be released,’ she laments.


She further adds that there are some unprincipled police officers who are delaying the release of Yousuf. 

 
“We again visited Deputy Commissioner and the concerned MLA and requested them for getting our son released. However, police does not pay any heed to the matter and avoid us by saying that reports from CIK Department are yet to be received. See how police tramples the law without being accountable to anybody. This is our administration”, Hajira mocks. 

UNIDENTIFIED GUNMAN SHOT DEAD A RELEASED MILITANT AT SOPORE

In north Kashmir Riyaz Ahmad Najar alias Raja (35) son of Ghulamudin was shot dead by some unidentified gunmen at his native village Batapora, Sopore Baramulla.


Jana mother of Riyaz Ahmad told The Informative Missive, “On 5th November (05) Riyaz was restoring his telephone cable in his residential lane at about 5:30 in the evening and some of his friends were accompanying him. When he climbed on the ladder a person in disguise wearing Burqa (veil) starts shooting at Riyaz. In the shooting my son got some bullets in his abdomen. The gunmen fled away immediately form the scene. Riyaz’s friends rushed him to the Sopore hospital, where from he was shifted to SKIMS hospital Soura. But on the way to Srinagar he succumbed to his injuries at Singpora, Pattan. Police came to our town after they heard about the incident. The policemen from police station Sopore lodged FIR vide number 371/05 under 7/25 act and section 307 RPC”.

The mother further adds with her soggy eyes, “my son had been running a cement and iron store at Kulangam, Handwara since 90’s and once upon a time he had brought some ammunition from Handwara and kept that in the house. He had told to some of his friends about the ammunition and somehow one of his friends had informed BSF about the storage of ammunition. The troops of BSF then raided our house and arrested Riyaz Ahmad and recovered ammunition. Even we were not aware about the storage of ammunition at our house and our son’s association with militancy. But when he got arrested and faced the detention of about one year under PSA. He had been detained in sub-jail Handwara. After his release he had relinquished his association with militancy. Thereafter, he started to work as a transport broker and was living a normal life”. 

Ajaz Ahmad, younger brother of Riyaz said, “ after my brothers release he was again and again arrested by the security agencies especially by BSF for about three years. The reason of his often arrests was that one of his past fellow militants namely, Lateef Ahmad Guroo resident of Nowpora Sopore had surrendered to BSF and was working with them. The said Lateef provoked the incessant arrests of my brother in 2004 he gave up to work as a broker, because he was very much mortified by the often arrests. He then started to work as a chauffeur and was driving the vehicle of IRCON railway Construction Company until the day of his death. We are very much rankled by his killing on no grounds, because he never re-linked himself to the militancy after his release”. 

Ajaz Ahmad further informed The Informative Missive, “my brother Riyaz was first time shot at his leg by an unidentified gunmen in down town Sopore in the year 2004. That time he was saved by the timely medical treatment. Riyaz was our elder brother and he had been married a year before his death. On his Charum (fourth day of death of deceased) his wife Shameema left the house”.

“The family is living in a constant stress and now is being catering by the old-aged father Ghulamudin Najar a carpenter by profession”, added Ajaz Ahmad Najar.  

UNIDENTIFIED GUNMEN KILL TWO INCLUDING A RELEASED MILITANT

Two persons Showkat Ahmad Banday, 35, son of Ali Mohd Banday and Mohd Ashraf Bhat, 47, son of late Gh Rasool Bhat were killed by unidentified gunmen at their native village Jammia Mohalla Baramulla in north Kashmir.

Sarva mother one of the deceased Showkat Ahmad while narrates the tale to The Informative Missive said, “ On 15th December at bout 4:30 pm Showkat Ahmad came out of the mosque after offering prayers accompanying Mohd. Ashraf Bhat who had also offered the prayers in the same mosque. Both Showkat Ahmad and Mohd. Ashraf started to talk about some matter regarding the Jamia Mosque, because both of the persons were associated with the Management Committee of the Mosque. They were stood in their residential lane and meanwhile some veiled person came out of an alley and fired indiscriminately on Showkat Ahmad and Mohd Ashraf. Both fell on the ground. In the meantime the inhabitants of town came out of their houses and picked them up”.


The mother Sarva adds with her soggy eyes that my son Showkat received bullets in his abdomen and shoulders. He was rushed to district hospital Baramulla. When his conditions failed to recoup in the district hospital, he was shifted to Srinagar to SKIMS hospital for further treatment and on the way to Srinagar, he succumbed to his injuries at Pattan, 30 KM away from Baramulla.


Mother Sarva further said, “ My son was private employee with Alhuda BED College situated at Pattan. Showkat, a BSC pass out after failed to get desirable job in government establishment he started to work in the BED College. He had a huge family responsibility. He had to take care of his mother and orphan nephews. Showkat’s elder brother had died of some serious ailment in Delhi and immediately his wife left to his maternal home. Putting her three children in her in-laws house. 


“Showkat was also the president of Jamia Mosque Committee. The reason of his killing is just because of his being the patron of the mosque committee. There was some land near the Jamia Mosque, which was in the possession of Government. Showkat Ahmad had strived a lot to make that land property of the mosque, so that it could enhance the sources of economy for the mosque. After a lot of struggle he succeeded in getting the land. He and other members of the mosque committee made seven shops on that land. After the construction of shops the members of the committee said that the money, which would generate from all the shops would be utilized for the developmental work of the mosque. But Showkat Ahmad told them that six shops would be used for the mosque and the money which would generate from the seventh shop has to be dedicated for the widows and orphans”, elucidated Sarva mother of Showkat Ah Banday while reminding the philanthropy of her slain son.


The mother further adds that when Showkat was striving for taking the land from government. He used to go to meet different ministers and other government high ups just to acquire the land for the mosque, because he was the president of the mosque committee. But due to his frequent visits to the ministers and other high officials some one had certainly became envious to him and got him killed. He was my only hope. Now all our hopes have been shattered and we are left in extreme misery”, stated mother Sarva.

One of the local residents of the Jammia Mohalla requesting anonymity told The Informative Missive “Showkat was a militant and after serving two year long detention he disassociated himself from militancy.  Thereafter, he started to work in the Alhuda BED College Pattan. He was often visiting the ministers and other government offices. Showkat Ahmad Banday had political connections and for his political involvement, militants of Hizbul Mujahidin had warned him to cut off his relations with the government. But Showkat denied and remained in close contact with the ministers. His relation with politicians cost his life.


Mohd Ashraf Bhat was also the member of Management Committee of mosque. When the gunmen fired on Showkat Ahmad, Mohd Ashraf also received a bullet on his chest, which led to his on spot death. 

 
“The gunmen were with an intention to kill Showkat Ahmad but my son got killed for his innocence”, narrated Azeezi mother of Mohd Ashraf while reminding calamitous moments of her sons killing.


The mother Azizee further said, “My son was a government employee in the department of ordinance. He was the only hope to his children, his wife had died 10 years ago. Mohd Ashraf left behind his two unmarried daughters Aalia (22) a BSC 2nd year student, Fozia (19) a 10th class student and his son Ishfaq (16) a class 8th student. The naïve orphan children are agonized about there future. They lost both mother and father at the when they need them more. They are very much perplexed, because there is nobody who could look after them and support them in the rest of their life. Mohd. Ashraf’s death is directly proportional to the mental agony of the children”.

           Shameena sister-in-law of Mohd Ashraf says, “Now the orphans of Mohd Ashraf are being supported by their uncle Nazir Ahmad a government employee in the deputy commissioner’s office Bramulla”. 

 
She adds, “Mohd Ashraf was in no way associated with any militant or political organization. He was spending much of his time in the welfare activities. In the shoot out a woman was also injured as a bullet hit in her leg, but after immediate medical treatment she survived”.
COURT QUASHES AASIYA’S DETENTION
Srinagar, Dec 9: The High Court on December 9 quashed the detention of Syeda Aasiya Andrabi, Chief of all-women outfit Dukhtaran-e-Millat (daughter of faith). 

 
Justice Nirmal Singh quashed Aasiya’s detention order after hearing arguments of the petitioner counsel Mian Abdul Qayoom, and the Deputy Advocate General MA Wani, who represented the state. 

Aasiya was arrested along with her seven associates during the DM’s campaign to stamp out flesh trade and obscenity from the society in September. 

 
She challenged the detention order. The state filed counter stating that the detainee was detained under Public Safety Act (PSA) as her activities were prejudicial to the security of state. 
The seven DM activists were released a month later while Aasiya is serving detention in Central Jail Srinagar. 
She was booked under the PSA for carrying out raids at hotels, beauty parlors and cyber cafes on the behest of militant outfits like Al Mansoorian and Lashker-e-Toiba, the government had said. 
 
Challenging the detention order, Mian Qayoom argued that Aasiya and her colleagues had launched a campaign for eradicating flesh trade from Kashmir. 

 
He argued that the women activists had visited a number of places where they found people indulging in these activities. All those to whom these advices were tendered promised that they would not indulge in these activities in future. No force was used by Aasiya on any person is however unfortunate that instead of appreciating the work done by the detainee and her other colleagues, the police arrested them and succeeded in putting them behind bars. The action of police was totally uncalled for and the order of detention of the detainee should be quashed, Mian Qayoom argued. 
 
Justice Nirmal Singh after hearing the arguments of Mian Qayoom and Deputy Advocate General, MA Wani observed that the detention order was not sustainable and that it has been passed without application of mind. 

 
The Court observed, the detention order was placed for approval before the Principal Secretary (Home) on September 8, 2005. On this date the order of detention was approved. But there is nothing on the record to suggest that the representation filed by the detainee on September 6, 2005 was placed before the advisory board within the prescribed period. 

 
The court quashed the order and directed the authorities to set Aasiya Andrabi free if not required in any other case 

COURT SEEKS DETAILS OF DETAINEES
4500 FACING TRIAL IN JK


Srinagar, Dec 24: In a significant development, the State High Court on December 22 sought details of detainees lodged in different jails and directed the Financial Commissioner Home, Director General of Police (DGP) and Additional Director Prisons to file detailed affidavit stating whether they have complied with Court directions passed in the Jaleel Andrabi v/s State case. 
 
The directions have been passed by a Single Bench of Justice Nirmal Singh on a writ petition filed by the High Court Bar Association (HCBA) through its secretary Ajaz Bedar. 
 
The petition stated that the HCBA constituted teams last year for visiting jails of Jammu and Kashmir and outside so that legal aid and assistance is provided to the detainees and the under trials. 
 
The report, which was prepared by the teams and submitted to the HCBA, stated that the detainees were deprived of the basic facilities of life and were made to languish in jails without trial. 
 
Pleading the case, senior counsel Mian Abdul Qayoom, who is also president of the Bar, argued that detainees are not produced in the Courts for last eight to ten years and have been lodged in jails outside the State. 
The counsel informed the Court that though speedy trial is a fundamental right in the Constitution, the detainees facing trial are not being produced for trial. 
 
The counsel argued that the state could not detain a person for unlimited period and sought direction from the Court that under-trial prisoners be produced in the Court on the date of hearing so that their trial concludes. 
The counsel also referred to the judgment of the High Court in the Jaleel Andrabi vs State and others case passed on May 22, 1995 in LPA number 236/94 and stated the judgment was not implemented by the State. 
The directions of the Single Bench on the case were: 

 
“In each district of the State a committee consisting of the District and Sessions Judge, District Magistrate, District Superintendent of Police and Chief Medical Officer be constituted which shall visit each and every jail/sub-jail, interrogation center and police lock-up in their districts, and prepare a list of detainees disclosing the case/cases in which they have been shown arrested and period in which they were in detention and facilities provided to them. 

 
All the ailing detainees shall be medically examined by at least two specialists posted at the headquarters of each district. They shall be provided all medical facilities and, if advised, admit them in the hospitals for treatment. The said committee shall meet within one month after receiving this order in the first instance for implementing this order. The District and Sessions Judge and District Magistrate of each district shall be responsible to convene the first meeting which shall meet after every two weeks to take stock of the progress in this behalf. 

 
The State went for an appeal against the Single Bench judgment. The Division Bench however upheld the judgment. But it increased the time for a meeting from once in two weeks to once in two months. 
The Bar counsel was informed that some detainees have been booked under PSA again though the Courts quashed their detention orders and bails were issued to them. 
 
Responding to the HCBA arguments, the State through Senior Additional Advocate General informed the Court that 4500 detainees are regularly produced before the Courts. He argued non-production of detainees was not deliberate act of police authorities. The Court was informed that in rarest of rare cases like non-availability of proper security the detainees are not being produced before the Courts. 
 
After hearing the arguments, Justice Nirmal Single directed the state to file a detailed affidavit within four weeks whether the double bench judgment on Jaleel Andrabi’s case has been complied with. The Court also directed the respondents to give detail of each detainee who has not been produced in Court for last six months and reasons therein. The case is listed again on February 24, 2006. 

AFTER ENCOUNTER, SHATTERED HOMES IN BEMINA
RESIDENTS ALLEGE LOOT, DISPROPORTIONATE USE OF POWER, USE OF HUMAN SHIELDS

Srinagar, Dec 26: Day after a fierce gun battle in Bemina locality in which a commander of Al-Badr was killed and two houses destroyed, bulldozers were clearing the debris on the spot. And the residents of Umar colony were shocked to see their houses damaged and household looted. 
 
Fear was palpable on their faces. Police had blocked all the routes leading to the area with razor wires. Emotional scenes were witnessed in the area as the residents were being consoled by their relatives for destruction of their homes and at the same time greeting them for being alive. 
Amir-ud-Din Bhat says he met with scariest encounter in his life. Bhat lives in a rented house adjacent to the one where the militant was holed up. Both the houses are flat-roofed. He says, police and CRPF troopers asked him and two girls to walk toward the house where the militant was hiding. “As we got nearer, the militant abused the security troopers and asked them why did they brought us them there. Then the police told us to go. He could have fired at us but he didn’t,” reveals Bhat. 

People whose houses were damaged were gathering the bits of their shattered lives. Two houses were completely razed by the mortar shells and twenty houses partially damaged due to explosions. People were cursing their fates and also questioning the logic of such disproportionate use of explosive power against a single militant. 

Muhammad Amin Khan, a police constable whose house was gazed to ground was all fire against the modus operandi of the troops. “There was no militant hiding in my house still the troops blasted it. My family is on the road in this cold and nobody from the government came to even offer a consolation not to talk of providing a temporary shelter,” Khan said while his family sat silently near the rubble of their house. 

“My daughter, Gulshan fainted when she found jewelry worth Rs 35,000 and watch missing from locker. Troops had taken positions in our house and left from there,” Ghulam Nabi told media. “My in-laws had gifted me the jewelry on my engagement recently they stolen it,” Gulshan sobbed. 
Muhammad Ashraf Khanyari’s face turned pale when he saw his belongings missing. “After the troops ordered us to evacuate our house on Sunday morning, I kept Rs 30,000 and two earrings in a locked cupboard. They took it all,” Khanyari said. 

 
Lockers lie open and clothes scattered in the house of Habibullah Darzi. “See the troops have even looted our belongings. They have taken our new blankets; mobile phone and one jewelry set and ransacked the whole house,” aged Habibullah said while the womenfolk in the house wept. 

The windowpanes and doors of most of the houses in the area have been damaged. Some houses are unsafe for living as they can crumble anytime. 

 
“This house belongs to Noor Muhammad. It has developed so many cracks that it is dangerous to live in,” the residents said. “Due to fear, some house are lying vacant and owners live with their relatives,” they added. 

The house of Bashir Ahmad Najar in whose house the militant was killed is completely destroyed due to the mines planted and detonated by the troops. “He has been unnecessarily arrested by the police. The militant barged into the house and what is the fault of the family,” Ghulam Nabi, Bashir’s brother asks. 
The bomb disposal squad of police was conducting moping operation near the debris of Najar’s house till evening. And the residents who stood in cold witnessed the exercise with fear writ large on their face. 
Public Relations Officer (PRO) of paramilitary CRPF refuting the allegations of the residents said, “I refute that our troops stole the belongings and used people as human shield. It’s surprising. This has never happened during our stay in the Valley. How can we use the people as human shield as our troops don’t know the local language,” the PRO told media. If people have complaints against our troops we can get the matter investigated, the PRO added. 

LOC FENCING LABORERS YET TO GET WAGES

WE’LL PAY THEM SOON: ARMY


Kupwara, Dec 1: Army authorities haven’t paid scores of men of two border villages in Kupwara the wages even though they worked full time as laborers and porters and helped erect the fence along Line of Control, a delegation of the aggrieved men said. 

 
The labourers said from January 2004 to October 2005, at least 50 men from two villages, Awoora and Manwan, worked with Army 26 Madras and 52 Engineering Unit as casual labourers and permanent porters putting their blood and sweat together in laying the fence along the front posts of Shallubutta, Sarbal, Manager, Pimple Post and K K Gali. 

 
Disgruntled villagers said they used their ponies in transportation of ration and other material for army. “They threatened us of dire consequences when we approached them for wages. When we requested in charge officer Major Mali and Labor officer Brigham for payment, they denied it by saying that both the units have been transferred and he didn’t had any wages for us. We insisted for our payment but in return we were humiliated and abused by the major. He asked us to keep mum or else face the wrath of uniformed men,” Sonaullah Dar, one of the laborers said. 

 
Latif Payer son of Yousuf Payer alleged that Army in glove with Labor officer Trehgam, robbed more than Rs 30,000 that they owed him as wages. “I worked day and night with them in erection of fence along the LoC for eight months. I also put my two ponies into service,” he added. 
 
”I have maintained complete records of my work, Hamid Khatana, an elderly man in his sixties, said.  Father of 6, Hamid worked with Madras unit for eight months who now denied paying his wage. “My children are starving. I have committed a blunder by working as a porter with them. I want justice. I will commit suicide if my wages are not paid at an earliest,” Khatana warned. 
 
Saifudin Mogul, Qasim Din and scores of other locals have similar complaints. In this connection villagers have made several representations to Deputy Commissioner, Kupwara and Army higher authorities. 
 
The Additional District Magistrate on November 22 personally discussed the matter with Army authorities. On the next day, Deputy Commissioner Kupwara, Abdul Majid Khanday wrote a letter to Col. G.S of 28 Infantry Division and urged him to ensure that the wages to the laborers who worked with them in construction of fencing should be immediately released. However, the efforts have not borne any fruit. 
 
The Army spokesman, Lt Col V K Batra admitted that the laborers are yet to receive the wages. “We had no funds, but now we have received it, all dues would be given to the laborers in a planned manner, he told media.

HSHS MARKET CLOSES’I NDEFINITELY OVER TROOPS’ EXCESSES

POLICE ORDERS PROBE INTO CRPF FIRING


Srinagar, Dec 5: To protest indiscriminate firing and alleged beating of civilians by paramilitary CRPF troops after a grenade attack on December 4, the shopkeepers at Hari Singh High Street (HSHS) and adjoining markets went on an indefinite strike from December 5. 

 
Shouting anti-Government and anti-CRPF slogans, shopkeepers of HSHS, Goni Khan and Maharaja Bazar who were on a sit-in on Monday said the CRPF personnel had damaged their merchandise in the firing. 

 
Two civilians, Bashir Ahmad and a Nepalese laborer were critically wounded when the soldiers retaliated to Sunday, December 4-grenade attack by suspected militants. 

 
“Few days ago, the CRPF troops had threatened of dire consequences if there was a firing or a grenade attack in the market. And on Sunday they directly fired upon civilians,” Sheikh Usman Fazili, Vice-President of HSHS Traders Federation told media. “We will not open the shops till the CRPF bunker is removed from the area and action is taken against the guilty,” Sheikh said, as he demanded an enquiry into the incident. 

The strike also received support of Kashmir Traders and Manufacturers Federation (KTMF), the representative body of the Kashmiri business community. “How can the shopkeepers work under the shadow of guns and bullets? We will support strike till the troops are punished and removed from the area,” the KTMF president, M S Baqal told local media. The Traders Associations from Maharaja Bazar and Goni Khan, two other key commercial centers of Srinagar city, also joined the strike. 
The residents said the troops fired continuously for about 10 minutes after the blast. “Had it not been a holiday, scores of shopkeepers and pedestrians would have been killed .The CRPF troops pointed their guns on the shops and houses,” the residents alleged. 

“The troops unnecessarily beat us even in normal days. We want them shifted from here, otherwise we will come on streets and government then would be responsible for any law and order situation,” they added. 
 
Dozens of shops and houses opposite the Hanuman Mandir bunker bear the bullet marks and some shopkeepers had a narrow escape. “After the blast I saw the troops from the bunker fire towards my shop. I was nearly hit by a bullet,” said Fayaz Ahmad, a butcher. 

About 10 bullets pierced through the shutters of a Jeweler shop opposite the bunker. A bullet also hit the bicycle of a newspaper hawker in front of the shop at the time of the incident. “Troops directly fired on the shops and bullets missed my leg and hit the stand of my cycle, said Ghulam Mohi-ud-din, the hawker. 
Senior Superintendent of Police (SSP) Srinagar, Muneer Khan said police was investigating the matter.  We will order an enquiry to ascertain why the CRPF troops fired so many rounds after the blast, the SSP said, adding the bunker from the area would be relocated. 

 
“Inquiry means doom for any policeman or soldier and we’ll register case for investigation,” the SSP said. 
 
The CRPF’s Public Relation Officer (PRO), RK Singh refuting that its troops fired upon the civilians said, “Our troops didn’t fire on civilians or shops nor did they threaten to kill anybody. The strike by the shopkeepers seems to be motivated by militants to defame our troops,” he said. 

 
“See a system wherein an internal enquiry is conducted after every incident as every bullet fired means loss to government. Our troops have to give account of every bullet and there is no scope for lies, as bullets cannot be eaten,” the PRO added. 

VIOLENT PROTESTS AGAINST CIVILIAN’S KILLING IN TANGMARG

Srinagar, Dec 5: Police resorted to severe cane-charge to disperse hundreds of people at Tangmarg on December 5 protesting against the killing of a civilian by troops allegedly in custody. Separatist leader led the daylong protests against the Custodial killing. 

 
Police has reportedly registered a case against the Rashtriya Rifles troops who allegedly killed one Ghulam Ahmad Rather, father of five daughters, during a pre-dawn search operation. 
 
Quoting eyewitnesses, a local news agency report said that troops of RR 52 launched a vigorous search operation in Nambalnaar, a remote hamlet several Kilometers away from Babarishi shrine, in the wee hours of Monday. The search operation had followed two successive encounters in the area between troops and militants. 

 
According to local news agency, a search party of 52 RR cracked down on the Nambalnaar village on Monday morning and during the search operations the service rifle of one Major Patil alias Major Tariq misfired wounding his leg. Seeing the bleeding leg of their officer, RR troops resorted to indiscriminate firing on the residents who had been held there during the operation. One Ghulam Ahmad Rather received multiple bullet injuries. 

 
He was rushed to Tangmarg hospital and had later to be shifted to Srinagar but on way he succumbed to the injuries. 

 
The incident evoked massive protests from the residents with the ding-dong battles between the Police and the protesters running late into the evening. Eyewitnesses said that separatist leader led the protests and sat on dharna on the Srinagar-Tangmarg highway blocking traffic on the road for several hours. 
 
Whole of the township raged with protests throughout the day and routine activities remained halted. Schools, banks and other commercial outlets remained closed. 

MEANT FOR RESIDENTIAL COLONY, LAND OCCUPIED BY TROOPS

ARMY SAYS MONEY SANCTIONED FOR HIRING LAND
Islamabad, Dec 10: The landowners in Fateh Garh colony of Islamabad town are waiting for justice since troops occupied their land in 1992. Despite repeated assurances by the successive governments of either providing them compensation or allotting them plots elsewhere for constructing houses, they are yet to get their due.

 
According to the owners about 1,400 plots spread over 600 Kanals were allotted by the state government between 1987and 1989. In 1992, army established a vast camp in the area “illegally occupying” the land meant for construction of houses. “Many land owners had initiated construction of their houses while the others were planning for it when the troops occupied the land, “ said Abdul Gani Yetoo of Ananatnag who owns a plot in what is now an Army camp.

 
“In 1993 we were promised alternative lands in Bemina and Zakoora in Srinagar and in Anantnag itself depending upon our own choice and for that we were asked to fill application forms with a demand draft of Rs 100, but it turned out to be a hollow promise. We are still waiting for justice,” Abdul Gani added.

 
“We have been knocking the doors of higher authorities but to no avail,” said Ghulam Qadir Sofi. Many of the owners belong to the underprivileged section of the society living in small cottages that had put everything at stake to procure a plot of land to build their houses.

 
Another land owner, Bashir Ahmed Sofi, said, “the government is turning a deaf ear towards us because we are neither bureaucrats nor politicians. We request the government to alleviate our sufferings,” he added.

 
The Deputy Commissioner Anantnag, Baseer A Khan said,” the process of identification of plots is on and the owners will be the provided alternative plots.”

Asked about an earlier promise of providing plots, he refused to comment by saying, “I don’t have any information regarding that”

 
Official Defense spokesperson, Colonel Juneja said, “ Ministry of defense has already sanctioned the money for hiring that particular land and those who are yet to receive compensation should contact the Defense Executive officer.” 

TROOPS MOLESTED OUR WOMEN: B’PORA FAMILY

ARMY DENIES, SAYS THEY SUPPORT MILITANTS
Bandipora, Dec 8: Soldiers of Rashtriya Rifles allegedly tried to molest some women during a raid at Irin village here on December 6 night.

 
The incident occurred when troops of 14 RR stationed at Bandipora barged into the house of a retired teacher, Muhammad Kamal and allegedly ransacked the belongings.

 
The women present in the house however raised an alarm forcing the troops to escape from the spot.

Deputy Commanding Officer of the RR Camp, DS Mundi refuted the allegations. “The family provides food and shelter to the militants. Our troops only searched the house and didn’t molest the women,” he told media.

 
An official of Bandipora Police Station said, “We don’t have any information regarding the molestation attempt. Kamal’s son Javeed Ahmed has been arrested in the killing of an Army Major last month”. However, the residents of Irin said Javeed and his family have no links with the militants 
BEYOND LAKHANPUR TRAVEL IS HARASSMENT, HUMILIATION, EXTORTION FOR KASHMIRIS

Jammu, Dec 18: Roadside checks and humiliating body searches are a routine in Kashmir valley. Homes can be searched at any hour of day. Court warrants are not needed because many draconian laws provide immunity to the security agencies. They have a reason, they say they are fighting a ‘proxy war’ but what is Punjab Police fighting when it humiliates a Kashmiri in a train in front of his daughter, wife, sister, or a mother?

 
The answer is hard to come. Mahbooba Mufti, the president of people’s Democratic Party, says she has raised the issue with Central government but she raised it three years ago too when her party was in power. Has “raising the issue” provided any relief to the Kashmiri passengers whose ordeal starts right from their homes?

 
“Whenever we travel to other parts of the state we are harassed. Police shoves and kicks us. They abuse us and sometimes it gets on your nerves and you want to hit back but they can brand you a terrorist and kill you in a fake encounter,” said Muhammad Aslam of Anantnag district a handicrafts seller.

 
“The state government has not been serious in discussing the matter with Punjab government. Since we have distinct physical features they easily recognize us. They intimidate you in a way that you feel helpless and in the end it’s money they are after. Most of them are drunk and you don’t like to confront them when you are traveling with your womenfolk,” said Iftikhar Hussain from Budgam.

Even the Dhaba owners in connivance with the drivers want to exploit the edgy situation of Kashmiris, the passengers said. “There is always an understanding between the drivers and Dhaba owners. They charge whatever they like. The passengers have to pay,” says Abdul Qadir of Anantnag, a frequent visitor to New Delhi. A top official of State Road Transport Corporation advised those passengers who travel by bus to avoid traveling in private buses. “ Sufficient government buses ply from Jammu and New Delhi and vice versa. People are inviting trouble by traveling in private buses,” he said.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     
NEWS IN BRIEF

· MILITANT THREATS FORCES FAMILY TO MIGRATE

Banihal, Dec 9: After threats from militants, seeking forcible marriage of a gujjar’s daughter with a militant in Sumber area of Ramban Tehsil, thirteen family members of a Gujjar Family have migrated from their village to Ramban township.

 
According to reports the family of Abdul Gani Gujjar son of Nashru Gujjar resident of Banjoni, Sumber in Ramban Tehsil are receiving constant threats from some local militants to marry his daughter Zaytoona with a local militant Nazir.

 
Sources quoting the father of the girl said that the Zaytoon is already engaged somewhere else and militants are forcing them to marry her to a militant. Sources said offer of the militants marriage proposal was rejected by Abdul Gani several times and for the purpose militants picked up him several times for his consent, sources added.

 
The migrated family members haven taken shelter in a community hall at Maitra Ramban and some blankets have been provide by the officials sources.

· 3,770 VDCS FUNCTIONING IN JK

Srinagar, Dec 13: The number of Village Defense Committees (VDCs) functioning in Jammu and Kashmir is 3,770. Fifty-eight VDC members have been killed in militancy related incident during last three years till November 2005. During 2002, 20 VDC members, 16 in 2003 and 4 in year 2004, besides 18 VDC members have been killed by the end of November 2005.

 
Minister of State for Home Affairs Sri Prakash Jaiswal gave this information in reply to a question by Rasheed Masood in Lok Sabha on Dec 13, a Press Information Bureau (PIB) handout said.

 
The Minister said that VDC members have been equipped with arms and ammunitions like 303 Rifles, Self Loading Rifles. He said that wireless sets have been provided to VDC members in far-flung areas and on the spot training is also imparted to them. 

· BODY EXHUMED 

Srinagar, Dec 16: Police on December 16 exhumed from a pit the body of a youth who was abducted 25 days back.

 
Reports said 22-year-old Mohammad Shaban Dar; a government employee of Bakhipora-Dangiwach left his home to meet his sister Farzi at Rajpora-Handwara on November 21. But he did not reach his destination and was missing since then.

 
His family members feared that he was abducted and launched a massive hunt to trace him. They did not achieve any success. This morning the people noticed a newly dug pit, covered by clay, at Shah Gundba village. They informed the police who dug the pit and exhumed body of Dar from there. Reports said the deceased was hanged to death and later his body was buried in the pit. Another unidentified body was recovered from Nihalpora Pattan. Efforts are on to identity the deceased.

· ‘POLICE REFUSING TO FURNISH FIR DETAILS’

Srinagar, Dec 17: The family of Muhammad Rafiq Shah detained by police on the night of November 21 in connection with the Delhi blasts has complained that the concerned police station is not providing them the details about FIR.

 
Rafiq’s father Muhammad Yasin Shah told media that despite repeated attempts, the police haven’t provided them the details about the report, which is necessary before making appeal in the court of law. “Many a time we visited Zakura police station, but the concerned SHO never furnished the details,” he said adding the senior police officials also dilly-dallied for the details.

 
According to the family members, Muhammad Rafiq, a postgraduate student of Islamic Studies was implicated in the blasts. “He was in the Kashmir University when the incident happened,” they said adding that their son is innocent and should be released immediately.

 
When contacted an official of the police station Zakura told media that they haven’t filed any FIR against the detention as the detention was legal. “Delhi police detained him in a legal way and an FIR has been registered in the New Delhi,” he further said.

· SOLDIER COMMITS SUICIDE

Srinagar, Dec 18: A soldier committed by suicide by shooting himself with his service rifle at Baramulla.

According to local news agency, the deceased has been identified as Shabir Ali.

· MBBS STUDENT MISSING

Srinagar, Dec20: A Kashmiri student in Batra Medical College Jammu is missing for last three days. Local news agency said Junaid Ali (22) son of Ali Muhammad Matoo, an MBBS student in the college, is missing since December 17.His disappearance has caused panic among his relatives.

· CUSTODIAL KILLING IN PAST 50 DAYS HAS COME TO ZERO LEVEL: AZAD

Jammu, Dec 22: Chief Minister Ghulam Nabi Azad said on Dec 22 that his direction about bringing custodial killing to Zero level has drawn good results as during past 50 days there has been no custodial killing reported from any part of the Jammu and Kashmir.

Talking with media person, Chief Minister said that he has given categorical directions that general public should not be harassed at any level, while conducting security operations against violence mongers.   

· RELATIVES FEAR AASIYA’S RE-ARREST
Srinagar, Dec 22: Notwithstanding the directions of the High Court seeking release of Dukhtaran-e-Milat chief, Aasiya Andrabi, her relatives fear her re-arrest by the police. Asiya was arrested three months ago during a campaign against promiscuity, waywardness and prostitution. She was detained under Public Safety Act (PSA). The High Court, however, quashed her detention last week.

 
A relative accused the police of hatching a conspiracy to re-arrest Aasiya. “Two days ago when we went to the Central jail to deliver the order of quashment, we saw police men waiting for her at the main gate. The police were heard saying that the higher officials were interested in Aasiya’s re-arrest”, she said.              

· AC QUESTIONS LEGALITY OF SOG CREATION
Srinagar, Dec 23: The accountability Commission has questioned the legality of the formation of Special Operation Group (SOG) and has asked the Director General of police to submit a detailed report on it’s functioning and jurisdiction of powers.

 
According to local news agency, the commission chairman Retd. Justice R P Sethi has directed the DGP to depute a senior police official who would cooperate with the commission in the preparation of the report.

 
These directions have been passed in connection with a case wherein Surjeet Singh had accused the SOG DSP Satwari and ASI Shelly Singh for smuggling the golden idols. He further alleged that SOG was hushing up the matter.

 
The commission has asked the DGP that if the SOG is following the police rules and is bound to follow them and if they can arrest anyone? The commission has further asked the DGP if the SOG personnel are working with some particular police station? The DGP, according to the local news agency, has been given a month to respond to the queries.

· HANDWARA FAMILY ACCUSES ‘AGENCIES’ OF DETAINING KIN 

Handwara, Dec 23:  The relatives of a teacher abducted by unidentified persons on 21 Dec 2005 accused intelligence agencies of detaining him.

 
The relatives of Riyaz Ahmad Dar son of Abdul Ahmad Dar of Langate said three maruti-borne persons abducted him on Dec 21.

 
Riyaz’s brother Advocate Muhammad Assadullah Dar said, “ He is a simple teacher and had no affiliation with any militant outfit or activity. He has been detained by the Intelligence agencies, “ Assadullah asserted.

 
“How can a car in which my brother was abducted ply without number plate in the presence of so many troops,” Assadaullah questions?

 
The villagers staged massive demonstrations and blocked the Kupwara-Sopore highway to protest the detention.

 
Police denied that they or any other security agency detained Riyaz. ‘ I contacted all the security agencies but Riyaz is not with them,” SP Handwara told media adding police has started investigation.

· KASHMIRI ARRESTED IN RAJASTHAN
Ajmer, Dec 26: A Kashmiri youth from Baramulla district was arrested by police in Ajmer on Dec 25.
Superintendent of police, N R Janga said the youth, Shabbir Ahmad, was a militant and arms were recovered from his possession. 
 
The arms were brought from Kashmir in a truck and were destined for Hyderabad. But the police acted on an intelligence tip-off and nabbed Ahmad and his accomplice Ravindra Kumar near Kishangarh on December 26, afternoon, police said.  “Ahmad had earlier received training for carrying out militant activities in Pakistan in 1990,” Janga said. 

 
He said Shabbir had earlier worked for Jammu and Kashmir Liberation Front for executing disruptive activities in the country. 

 
Ravindra Kumar hailing from Delhi is a cleaner of the truck and his involvement in militant activities cannot be ruled out, police said. 

· MAN RELEASED IN HALF-DEAD CONDITION
Srinagar, Dec 26: Unidentified Gypsy borne persons released an abducted person in a half-dead state at Handwara on December 26. 
 
According to a local news agency unidentified persons kidnapped Riyaz Ahmad Dar son of Abdul Ahmad from Puhruu Peth Handwara three-days back. 
Riyaz, according to the news agency was dropped on a road from a Gypsy at Chatloo Handwara in a half-dead state on Monday. 
 
Riyaz according to the news agency was in critical condition and was later hospitalised. Quoting locals, the news agency said the person had torture marks on his body. 

· PROTESTS BY KHANMOH RESIDENTS

Srinagar, Dec 27: Residents of Khanmoh, Pampore on Dec 27 staged protest demonstrations at Residency road against the personnel of Rashtriya Riffles camped in their area, which according to the protestors were running a reign of terror.

Raising slogans and seeking action against the officials of RR, the protestors said the soldiers had subjected the villagers to torture causing injuries to scores of people, local news agency reported.

They said on December 26 the residents of the locality went out for repairs of water pipe that had developed snag due to freezing conditions.

However, the residents said as they reached the spot and started repairs, the RR personnel tortured them.

The injured includes Muhammad Abdullah Khan son of Gul Khan, Ghulam Khan son of Raj Wali Khan, Farooq Khan son of Moosi khan, Ghulam Hassan Bhat son of Aziz Bhat, Shafiq Khan son of Makhan Khan and Karim Khan.

· SECURITY AGENCIES ASKED TO DESIST FROM HR ABUSES: AZAD

Jammu, Dec 29: Chief Minister Ghulam Nabi Azad had said that strict instructions have been issued to agencies involved in anti-militancy operations not to indulge in human rights violations, custodial killings, and deliberate damage of property by setting houses on fir and using civilians as human shields. He assured the house that any one restoring to such acts would be dealt sternly. He, however, made it clear that militancy will be dealt with iron hand and those who kill innocent people have to face law.

Chief minister was giving a statement in the house on the Dec 25, 2005 Bemina encounter.

· DELHI BLASTS SENT TO JUDICIAL CUSTODY

New Delhi, Dec 30: Three Kashmiri arrested in connection with the October 29 blasts in the capital were on Dec 30 sent to 14 day’s judicial custody by a city court.

The accused Tariq Ahmad Dar, Rafiq Shah and Mohammad Hussein Fazli were in police custody. In the last hearing, their police custody had been extended on a request of the Special Cell of the Delhi Police, which has submitted that further interrogation of the accused was required. On Dec 30, duty magistrate A L Sisodia sent the three to judicial custody after the Special Cell informed the court that their interrogation was complete.
· TROOPS USE CIVILIANS AS SHIELD: SAGAR

Jammu, Dec 28: Senior National Conference leader and MLA, Ali Muhammad Sagar Dec 28 accused troops of using civilians as human shields during anti militancy operations.


	Date
	Extra Judicial and Custodial Killings 
	Women
	Children
	Alleged Disappearances 

	Dec 4
	-
	2
	-
	-

	Dec 5
	1 CK
	-
	-
	-

	Dec 15
	-
	-
	1
	-

	Dec 17
	-
	-
	-
	1

	Total
	1
	2
	1
	1


        KILLINGS IN DECEMBER 
	Date
	Soldiers
	Militants
	Civilians
	Others

	Dec 1
	-
	1
	1
	-

	Dec 2
	-
	2
	1
	-

	Dec 3
	-
	3
	4
	-

	Dec 4
	-
	5
	2
	-

	Dec 5
	1
	3
	2
	-

	Dec 6
	-
	5
	-
	-

	Dec 7
	-
	2
	1
	-

	Dec 8
	2
	-
	-
	-

	Dec 9
	-
	5
	1
	-

	Dec 10
	-
	2
	-
	-

	Dec 11
	-
	1
	1
	-

	Dec 12
	-
	2
	1
	-

	Dec 13
	-
	3
	1
	1 dead body

	Dec 14
	1 SPO
	-
	-
	-

	Dec 15
	-
	8
	1
	-

	Dec 16
	-
	3
	-
	1 dead body

	Dec 17
	2
	3
	2
	-

	Dec 18
	-
	-
	-
	1 VDC

	Dec 19
	-
	3
	-
	1 released militant

	Dec 20
	-
	1
	1
	-

	Dec 21
	1 SPO
	-
	1
	-

	Dec 22
	1
	-
	-
	-

	Dec 23
	1
	1
	-
	-

	Dec 24
	-
	7
	-
	-

	Dec 25
	
	
	
	

	Dec 26
	-
	3
	-
	-

	Dec 27
	-
	2
	2
	-

	Dec 28
	-
	-
	1
	-

	Dec 29
	-
	3
	-
	-

	Dec 30
	1 SPO
	-
	-
	-

	 Dec 31
	1 
	-
	-
	1 PDP activist

	TOTAL 
	11
	68
	23
	5


CHRONOLOGY OF DECEMBER 2006

	Dec 1
	1 foreign militant and 1 civilian were killed in different violence related incidents in the valley.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                

	Dec 2 
	2 Hizbul Mujahideen (HM) militants and 1 civilian were killed in different violence related incidents in the valley.

	Dec 3
	3 militants and 4 civilians were killed in different violence related incidents across the state.

	Dec 4
	 5 LeT militants and 2 civilians were killed in different violence related incidents in the valley.

	Dec 5
	3 militants, 1 Army and 2 civilians were killed in different violence related incidents in the valley. 

	Dec 6 
	 5 HM militants were killed in different violence related incidents in the valley.

	Dec 7
	1 civilian and 2 militants were killed in different violence related incidents in the valley

	Dec 8
	2 Army were killed in different violence related incidents in the valley.

	Dec 9
	5 militants, and 1 civilian were killed in different violence related incidents in the valley.

	Dec 10
	Two militants were killed in violence related incident. 

	Dec 11
	1 militant and 1 civilian were killed in separate incidents of violence.  

	Dec 12
	2 militants and 1 civilian were killed in different violence related incidents in the valley

	Dec 13
	3 militants and 1 civilian were killed in different violence related incidents in the valley. Police recovered the dead body from Srinagar.

	Dec 14
	1SPO was killed in different violence related incidents in the valley.

	Dec 15
	8 HM militants, including 2 HuM militants and 1 civilian were killed in different violence related incidents in the valley.

	Dec 16
	3 militants were killed in different violence related incidents in the valley. Police recovered dead body of 1 woman (Maroofa) from Islamabad.

	Dec 17
	3 militants, 2 solider and 2 civilians were killed in different violence related incidents in the valley.

	Dec 18
	1 VDC member was killed in different violence related incidents in the valley.

	Dec 19
	3 militants and 1-released militants were killed in different violence related incidents in the valley.

	Dec 20
	1 JeM militants and 1 civilian were killed in different violence related incidents in the valley.

	Dec 21
	1 SPO and 1 HM militants were killed in different violence related incidents in the valley.

	Dec 22
	1 soldier died in violence related incident. 

	Dec 23
	1 BSF and 1 militant were killed in different violence related incidents in the valley.

	Dec 24
	7 militants were killed in different violence related incidents in the valley.

	Dec 25
	4 militants were killed in various incidents of violence across the state. 

	Dec 26
	3 Al-badr were killed in different violence related incidents in the valley.

	Dec 27
	2 militants and 2 civilians were killed in different violence related incidents in the valley.

	Dec 28
	1 civilian was killed in different violence related incidents in the valley.

	Dec 29
	3militants were killed in different violence related incidents in the valley.

	Dec 30
	1 SPO was killed in violence related incident.

	Dec 31
	1 SPO and 1 civilian were killed in different violence related incidents in the valley.




WOMEN- CHILDREN KILLED





December 4: Unidentified gunmen fired upon Rafiqa wife of Bango khan at Bandipora in Baramulla district on December 3. She died on the spot. Police has registered a vase and started investigation.


December 4: Suspected militants barged into the residence of Ruqaya Akhter and shot her dead at Choontimullah, Bandipora in Baramulla district.


December 15: Unidentified gunmen barged into the residence of Muhammad Iqbal of Tanta (Gondoh) Doda and shot dead his son Liaqat Ali, a class 8th student on December 13 
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Due to his frequent visits to the ministers and other high officials some one had certainly became envious to him and got him killed. He was my only hope. Now all our hopes have been shattered and we are left in extreme misery
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